IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF SAN JOSE, et al.,

Defendants and Petitioners,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Respondent.

SUPREME COURT FILED

TED SMITH,

MAY - 7 2014

Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Sixth Appellate District Case No. H039498 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. 1-09-CV-150427

> JAMES McMANIS (40958) MATTHEW SCHECHTER (212003) CHRISTINE PEEK (234573) JENNIFER MURAKAMI (273603)

McMANIS FAULKNER

A Professional Corporation

50 West San Fernando Street, 10th Floor

San Jose, California 95113

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether written communications about the public's business, sent or received by public officials and employees using personal equipment such as personal electronic devices or personal email and texting accounts, are "public records" within the meaning of the California Public Records Act ("CPRA"), and article I, section 3, subdivision (b)(1) of the California Constitution.

<u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This petition invites the Court to answer a significant question of first impression: although government officials' emails and texts about government business are "public records" subject to disclosure when sent or received using a government email or texting account,

may public employees and officials avoid disclosure through the simple expedient of sending or receiving those emails and texts using a private device or account? This issue presents an important question of public policy that concerns all citizens. Openness in government is critical to a functioning democracy. If the Court of Appeal's decision in this case is allowed to stand, public employees can easily avoid accountability and subvert the intent of the CPRA by hiding any communications that suggest corruption or the appearance of corruption in private accounts.

The CPRA provides that public records of "each state or local agency" are open to public inspection and must be made available to any person upon request. It also sets forth a broad definition of a public record: "[A]ny writing containing information relating to the conduct of the public's business prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics." Gov. Code § 6252(e). The California Constitution also provides that "[t]he people have the right of access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business, and, therefore, the meetings of public bodies and the writings of public officials and agencies shall be open to public scrutiny." Cal. Const. art. I, § 3,

subd. (b)(1) (emphasis added). The question raised here is whether text messages and email communications related to the public's business and created by public officials or employees using their own personal electronic devices or accounts are covered by the CPRA, or if such records are categorically shielded from disclosure.

Notwithstanding the broad definition of a public record, the purpose of the CPRA, and the command of article I, section 3(b) of the California Constitution, the Sixth District Court of Appeal published an opinion in this case holding that a local agency, in response to a CPRA request, had no responsibility to produce messages "stored on personal electronic devices and accounts that are inaccessible to the agency, or to search those devices and accounts of its employees and officials" (Opinion, p. 24 (attached as Exhibit A to this petition).) Essentially, the Court of Appeal has granted individual government officials and employees the right to hide documents regarding the public's business that they have prepared, owned, used, or retained, as long as those documents are kept on personal accounts.

The opinion of the Court of Appeal cannot be squared with the language of the CPRA, nor with the provisions of article I, section

3(b) of the California Constitution, enacted by the voters via Proposition 59 in 2004. "In enacting [the CPRA], the Legislature, ... [found] and declare[d] that access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business is a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state." Gov. Code § 6250. Not only does the California Constitution give the people of the state the "right of access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business," but when construing any statute that existed when Proposition 59 took effect – such as the CPRA – a court is to construe the statute "broadly ... if it furthers the people's right of access, and narrowly ... if it limits the right of access." Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(2).

The purpose of the CPRA is to give the people of the State of California the right to see what their elected officials are writing, using and keeping in performing the business of the public. In enacting Proposition 59, the voters sought to reinforce the goal of open government. Ignoring the legal maxim that "[a]n interpretation which gives effect is preferred to one which makes void" (Civ. Code § 3541), the Court of Appeal has issued a decision that undermines the effect of the CPRA, runs counter to the mandates set forth in the

California Constitution, and ensures that government officials will be able to hide documents from public scrutiny.

This is an important issue of constitutional and statutory interpretation. The CPRA is a critical tool in enabling the voters to participate meaningfully in the democratic process, but public employees now have an easy way to subvert that goal as a result of the Sixth District's published opinion in this case. The possibility that individual government officials may easily hide their misdeeds from public view has attracted media attention. This Court should address the issue now to clarify whether members of the public have the right to review and obtain copies of <u>all</u> writings owned, used, prepared, or retained by public employees to conduct the public's business, even if they are maintained on personal devices or in personal accounts.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. SMITH'S CPRA REQUEST.

On June 1, 2009, Real Party in Interest, Ted Smith ("Smith"), submitted a CPRA request to the City of San Jose ("the City") seeking thirty-two (32) categories of public records. (2 Petitioners' Appendix 323-326 ("PA").) The request sought public records which included, but were not limited to, "voicemails, emails or text messages sent or

received on private electronic devices" of Mayor Chuck Reed, City Council members Pierluigi Oliverio and Sam Liccardo, and all other members of the San Jose City Council and their staff, and which concerned former San Jose mayor Tom McEnery, John McEnery, San Pedro Square Properties, Urban Markets LLC, Barry Swenson, Sarah Brouillette, and other issues related to downtown San Jose development. (2 PA 323-326, ¶¶ 27-30.)

In response to Smith's CPRA request, the City produced some documents on June 29, 2009 and July 2, 2009. (2 PA 320, \P 9; 2 PA 348-353.) Included in the document production were emails between Lisa Herrick, then counsel for the City, and Ken Machado, counsel for former mayor McEnery, regarding a public records request from Mr. Machado. (2 PA 341, ¶ 14; 2 PA 378-388.) Ms. Herrick's emails originated from her non-City e-mail address, and at least some appeared to have been sent from her Blackberry phone. (2 PA 378-388.) Even so, on July 24, 2009, the City, in a letter to Smith's counsel, stated that "[s]ince the City does not prepare, own, use or retain any record created by the Mayor, members of the City Council or their staff using any type of personal digital assistant, those records are not public records." (2 PA 355-357.)

II. THE FEBRUARY 24, 2009 TEXT MESSAGES TO COUNCIL MEMBER LICCARDO AND SMITH'S LAWSUIT.

On August 16, 2009, the San Jose Mercury News published an article, "Many Records Still Secret Despite San Jose's Promises Of Openness." (2 PA 362-364.) According to the article, a former labor leader named Phaedra Ellis-Lamkins text messaged City Council Member Sam Liccardo, by accident, as she was text messaging other City Council members during a City Council meeting about a proposal to give "millions of city redevelopment dollars to former Mayor Tom McEnery." (2 PA 364.) The first text message, dated February 24, 2009, and sent at 8:18 p.m., states, "Ok as long as inclusion on motion for ba [sic] protection." (2 PA 376.) The second text message, sent shortly thereafter at 8:31 p.m., states, "Accidentally texted you. Sorry[.]" (2 PA 377.) The article stated that both messages were provided to the Mercury News in response to a CPRA request filed by the newspaper. (2 PA 320, ¶ 11; 2 PA 364.)

According to the Mercury News Article, the time stamps on the text messages, and the City Council's Meeting Minutes, the text messages appear to have been sent to Council Member Liccardo during, or shortly after, the February 24, 2009 City Council and Redevelopment Agency Board hearing, considering, among other

things, the approval of a Building Rehabilitation and Loan Agreement with Urban Markets, LLC, for improvements related to the San Pedro Square Urban Market. (2 PA 162-163, 374-377, 392.)

On August 21, 2009, Smith filed a Complaint for Declaratory Relief under the CPRA, naming the City, the San Jose Redevelopment Agency¹, and San Jose City officials and former officials sued in their official capacities as defendants (hereinafter collectively "the City"). (1 PA 1-17.) The Complaint summarized the dispute between Smith and the City as follows: "Plaintiff contends, and defendants deny, that the City must produce the records sought by plaintiff in his [CPRA request] including e-mails, text messages, and other electronic information relating to public business, regardless of whether they were created or received on the City owned computers and servers or the City Officials' personal electronic devices." (1 PA 7, ¶ 38.) Smith sought a "judicial determination and declaration that defendants are required to produce all records pertaining to the public's business, created or received by City Officials, regardless of what electronic device was used." (1 PA 7, ¶ 40.)

¹ After Smith filed his lawsuit, the San Jose Redevelopment Agency was dissolved by operation of law and the City of San Jose has been designated as its successor agency.

On June 29, 2011, almost two years after Smith filed his action, the City agreed to produce the two text messages to Council Member Liccardo that already had been produced in response to the Mercury News' CPRA request in 2009. (2 PA 320-321, ¶ 14.) Both text messages would have been directly responsive to categories 27 and 29 of Smith's June 1, 2009 CPRA request. (1 PA 013; 2 PA 376-377, 392.) Other than the two text messages and the Herrick emails, Smith has not received, any other documents that would be responsive to his June 1, 2009 request. (2 PA 321, ¶ 15.)

III. THE CITY'S PUBLIC RECORDS POLICIES.

On August 17, 2009, one day after the San Jose Mercury News article regarding the text message to Council Member Liccardo was published, Mayor Chuck Reed issued a memorandum including recommendations for the "Sunshine Reform Task Force." (2 PA 121, 164-167.) With respect to "[n]ew [t]echnologies," Mayor Reed's memorandum stated:

Records of city business created with personal equipment, such as personal email, text messages, cell phones, social networking websites, and other new technologies should be covered by the California Public Records Act. The question of how to make them available to the public needs some research and discussion. That work should be referred to the Rules and Open Government Committee.

In addition, if lobbyists are attempting to influence Councilmembers prior to a Council vote through the use of emails, texts, or another type of technological communication, those contacts should be reported from the dais by the Councilmember.

(2 PA 167 (emphasis added).) At the August 18, 2009 City Council meeting, the City Council approved Mayor Reed's memorandum (2 PA 122, 168-183), and referred to the Rules and Open Government Committee "the question of how communications about City business made with personal email, text messages, cell phones, social networking websites and other new technologies should be dealt with as public records." (2 PA 179.)

On March 2, 2010, the City Council unanimously passed Resolution No. 75293, which revised City Council Policy 0-32, entitled "Disclosure and Sharing of Material Facts," and City Council Policy 0-33, entitled "Public Records Policy and Protocol." (2 PA 122-123, 184-203.)

The purpose of revised City Council Policy 0-32 is "to require every member of the City Council to publicly disclose (1) material facts; and (2) communications received during Council meetings that are relevant to a matter under consideration by the City Council which have been received from a source outside of the public decision-

making process." (2 PA 204.) City Council Policy 0-32 explicitly applies to text messages, emails, and telephone calls received during Council meetings. (2 PA 204.)

Revised City Council Policy 0-33 states the following with regard to CPRA requests:

Records available for inspection and copying include any writing containing information relating to the conduct of the public's business that is prepared, owned, used, or retained by the City, regardless of the physical form and characteristics, and, in addition, any recorded and retained communications regarding official City business sent or received by the Mayor, Councilmembers or their staffs via personal devices not owned by the City or connected to a City computer network. The records do not have to be written but may be in another format that contains information such as computer tape or disc or video or audio recording.

(2 PA 207 (emphasis added).) The City claims that these policies are no longer enforced, and were voluntary. (4 PA 869, lines 20-24.)

IV. THE TRIAL COURT AND SIXTH DISTRICT APPELLATE COURT DECISIONS.

A. Cross-Motions For Summary Judgment In The Trial Court.

In July 2012, both Smith and the City brought motions for summary judgment. (1 PA 22-37, 89-112.) After briefing and oral argument, the Respondent Court entered its order on March 19, 2013, granting Smith's motion and denying the City's motion. (4 PA 846-

855.) The Respondent Court rejected the City's arguments that individual City officers are not included in the CPRA's definition of "public agency," and that the CPRA as a whole indicates legislative intent to exclude individual officials from that definition. (4 PA 846-855.) Because the City can only execute its public duties "by and through its officers and agents," the trial court reasoned, a communication relating to the conduct of the public's business drafted by a public officer or maintained on his or her private account is a "writing" that is "prepared, owned, used, or retained" by the local agency and, therefore, is a "public record" under the CPRA. (4 PA 854.)

B. The City's Writ Petition Before The Sixth District.

On April 10, 2013, the City filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate or Alternative Writ of Prohibition ("the Petition"), seeking review of the Respondent Court's March 19, 2013 Order. The Sixth District Court of Appeal granted review, and on March 27, 2014, issued a published opinion reversing the Respondent Court's decision. The Court of Appeal found, "it is the *agency* ... that must prepare, own,

² "Public agency" is defined as "any state or local agency." Gov. Code § 6252(d). "Local agency" is defined in Government Code section 6252(a) and is incorporated into the definition of "public record" in Government Code section 6252(e).

use, or retain the writing in order for it to be a public record, [and thus] those writings that are not accessible by the City cannot be said to fall within the statutory definition." (Opinion, pp. 14-15 (emphasis in original).) The Court of Appeal went on to say that "the language of the CPRA does not afford a construction that imposes on the City an affirmative duty to produce messages stored on personal electronic devices and accounts that are inaccessible to the agency, or to search those devices and accounts of its employees and officials upon a CPRA request for messages relating to City business." (Opinion, p. 24.)

On April 11, 2014, Smith filed a Petition for Rehearing And/Or Modification of Opinion. Smith sought rehearing on two grounds: (1) the Opinion incorrectly stated there was no evidence in the record that the City of San Jose had "actual or constructive control" over its officials' privately stored communications; and (2) the Opinion erroneously awarded costs to the City in violation of the CPRA. On April 18, 2014, the Sixth District deleted the award of costs but otherwise denied the petition for rehearing.

///

///

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. WRIT REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE TO SETTLE AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW.

"The Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision: When necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).

This Court has never addressed whether a local agency's obligation under the CPRA to search for and produce responsive, non-exempt, public records extends to writings relating to the public's business that are prepared, owned, used, or retained by individual officials when the responsive documents only exist on the official's personal email or other accounts. Put another way, this Court has not decided "whether personal e-mails [or texts] sent without using the City's resources but discussing the City's business are 'public records." *See Tracy Press, Inc. v. Superior Court (City of Tracy)* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1290, 1300.³

Given the number of CPRA requests submitted to California public entities, and the incentive created by the Sixth District's opinion to use personal electronic devices and accounts to try to avoid

³ The court in *Tracy Press* did not decide the issue due to a procedural technicality.

the CPRA, the issue is certain to arise in other districts. Review will allow this Court to resolve this issue and to let the public know that it has the right to obtain the documents the City, in this case, seeks to keep out of reach.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S INTERPRETATION OF "LOCAL AGENCY" TO EXCLUDE INDIVIDUAL PUBLIC OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES WILL EVISCERATE THE CPRA AND PROPOSITION 59.

In holding that documents maintained on personal electronic devices, or in personal accounts, are not covered by the CPRA, the Court of Appeal has provided a roadmap for government officials to keep significant or controversial documents hidden from the public eye. If it remains unchallenged, this roadmap will have statewide impact on the public's constitutionally protected right to receive information about government activities.

The Court of Appeal concluded that a writing relating to the public's business could not qualify as a "public record" under the Government Code section 6252 unless it was "prepared," "owned," "used," or "retained" by "the legislative body as a whole," not the individual officials who make up the agency or legislative body.

(Opinion, pp. 13-15.) Under this reasoning, if a lobbyist communicates with a City Council member about a public issue via

the Council member's personal email account, those emails are "inaccessible" under the CPRA because they were not "prepared" or "used" by the Council as an entity. Such a result fails to recognize how a city council naturally operates.

A "body politic," such as a city or county, "like a corporation, can act only through its officers and employees." Suezaki v. Superior Court (Crawford) (1962) 58 Cal.2d 166, 174; see also Acco Contractors, Inc. v. McNamara & Peepe Lumber Co. (1976) 63 Cal.App.3d 292, 295-96 (a corporation "can only function through its agents.") As a municipal corporation, the City "is an artificial person created and recognized by the law, invested with important corporate powers, public, and in a sense official, in their nature, and charged with public duties which it executes by and through its officers and agents." Regents of the University of California v. Superior Court (Karst) (1970) 3 Cal.3d 529, 540 (quoting Jones v. Town of Statesville (1887) 97 N.C. 86); San Jose City Charter, art. I, § 100 (establishing that the City of San Jose is a municipal corporation). The City, or any other local agency, can only "prepar[e], ow[n], us[e], or retai[n]" records through the acts of its officials and employees, i.e., natural persons working as its agents. See Gov. Code § 6252(e); Fiol v.

Doellstedt (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1318, 1328 (an agent is a person authorized by the principal "to exercise a degree of discretion in effecting the purpose of the principal.")

It is unclear from the Opinion whether an otherwise qualifying writing retained on City-owned property but "prepared" or "used" only by an individual employee and not the "legislative body as a whole" would meet the definition of a "public record" under the Sixth District's new rule. This new rule ignores how local agencies and legislative bodies act and ignores the plain meaning of the words "prepare," "own," "use," and "retain." Clarification is needed so that lower courts, local agencies, and the public understand that documents relating to the public's business that are prepared, owed, used, or retained by agency officials to perform their public duties are "public records" under the CPRA.

///

///

///

///

///

///

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