IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF SAN JOSE, et al.,

Defendants and Petitioners,

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

(Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist. v. Superior Court (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 759, 765) (quoting BRV, Inc. v. Sup. Ct. (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 750-51) (emphasis added)

Therefore, while Proposition 59 provides that "the meetings of public bodies and the writings of public officials shall be open to public scrutiny" (Cal. Const. Art. 1 sec. 3(b)(1)), there is no indication that the mention of "public officials" was intended to amend the definition of "local agencies" in the Public Records Act. Rather, the Proposition appears consistent with the Act's definition of "state agencies" that includes "state officers." (Gov. Code Sec. 6252(f).)

The Third District Court of Appeal also noted that Proposition 59 does not change established privacy rights:

Moreover, the amendment does not modify or further limit an individual's right of privacy as protected by the Public Records Act. Nothing in the amendment "supersedes or modifies the right of privacy guaranteed by Section 1 [of the state Constitution] or affects the construction of any statute [such as the Public Records Act], court rule, or other authority to the extent that it protects that right to privacy...." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b), para. (3).)

(BRV, Inc. v. Superior Court (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 742, 751.)

Privacy rights are implicated here because even if private communications were redacted and only those responsive to a request were produced, the search itself could still require a review of **all** private

communications in the private accounts and devices of the City Council members and employees. Such a search would intrude on and reveal intimate details of their lives. It would be much more invasive than the search of city-owned pager accounts considered in *City of Ontario*, *California v. Quon*, where the United States Supreme Court stated that the employer's "audit of messages on Quon's employer-provided pager was not nearly as intrusive as a search of his personal e-mail account or pager, or a wiretap on his home phone line, would have been." (*Quon*, 130 S.Ct. at 2631.)

Smith does not claim that he ever proceeded under Proposition 59, and his argument that the Constitution changed the Act's interpretation is unfounded.

E. SMITH DOES NOT STATE GROUNDS FOR REVIEW.

While Smith argues why the Public Records Act **should** cover electronic communications of individual local officials in their private accounts, his petition for review is silent as to the language of the Act supporting that assertion. (*See, e.g.* Smith's Petition at 15-17 & 24-29.) As this Court explained in *California Federal Savings and Loan Association v. City of Los Angeles* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 342, "[w]e may not, under the guise of construction, rewrite the law or give the words an effect different from the plain and direct import of the terms used." (*Id.* at 349.) Therefore, the Legislature may decide to amend the Act, but there are no grounds for this Court's review.

Smith makes a specious argument when claiming that the Sixth District Court's opinion is "unclear . . . whether an otherwise qualifying writing retained **on City-owned** property but 'prepared' or 'used' only by an individual employee" and not the Council as a body, would be constitute

public record under the Act. (Smith's Petition at 17; see also id. at 18-21.) (emphasis added) The Sixth District did not need to address that point because that was never an issue in this case. This case concerned e-mails and text messages contained solely in private accounts, not accessible to the City.

There is no need for the Court's clarification on this point, anyway. No-one could seriously dispute that an e-mail sent or received by a City employee relating to City business was a public record under the Act if it was located in a City-owned e-mail account or City server, and the employee was required by law to retain it, or kept it as necessary or convenient to the discharge of official duty. (See, e.g. San Gabriel Tribune v. Sup. Ct. (1983) 143 Cal.App.3d 762, 772.)

Another red herring is Smith's alleged requirement for consistency of the Public Records Act with state and federal discovery rules. (Smith's Petition at 21-24.) Smith does not cite any authority that public officials' private e-mail and phone accounts would be subject to local agencies' control and thus discoverable in a suit against the local agency. Even assuming that the Act and the discovery rules mandate the same production, Smith's claim that a local agency would have to produce in discovery communications in the officials' private accounts is unsupported.

///// /////

/////

¹ Smith's argument is ironic, at best, for most public entities that endure in litigation the use of extensive Public Records Act requests as "fishing expeditions" to obtain information that would not meet the discovery test of relevance or "reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence."

F. THERE IS NO CONFLICT AMONG THE DISTRICTS ABOUT "CONSTRUCTIVE POSSESSION."

Contrary to Smith's argument, there is no conflict among the courts of appeal on the issue whether the concept of "constructive possession" "appl[ies]... to the CPRA, either in its entirety or to its definition of public records." (Smith's Petition for Review at 29-30.) The Sixth District Court of Appeal did not decide whether the concept of "constructive possession" applied to the Public Records Act "in its entirety" because the court never had occasion to do so as its analysis concerned interpretation of Section 6252(e). (Smith's Petition for Review at 29-30.) The Sixth District's decision here does **not** conflict with

- the Fifth District's Consolidated Irrigation District v. Superior Court (2012)) 205 Cal.App.4th 697,
- the decision of the First District, Fifth Division, in *Board of Pilot Commissioners for the Bays of San Francisco*, San Pablo & Suisun v. Superior Court (2013) 218 Cal. App. 4th 577,
- or the decision of the Fourth District, Division One, in *Community Youth Athletic Center v. City of National City* (2013) 220
 Cal.App.4th 1385.

In Consolidated Irrigation District v. Superior Court (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 697, the court explains that a two-step analysis is required:

CID's [requester's] contentions imply that it need only demonstrate that the files of the consultant were "public records" and it is entitled to have City produce those files. This implication is not accurate because the duty set forth in Government Code section 6253, subdivision (c) pertains to "disclosable public records in the possession of the agency." Thus, to be successful, CID must establish that the files (1) qualify as "public records" and (2) were in the possession of City.

(*Id.* at 709.) (emphasis added) The parties disputed both issues: (1) whether the documents of subconsultants qualified as "public records" under Section 6252(e), and (2) whether they were "in the possession of the agency" under Section 6253(c). (*Id.* at 710.) The *Consolidated Irrigation* court proceeded with answering the second issue first, and affirmed the trial court's finding that the city did not control the subconsultants or their files. The court of appeal thus affirmed the trial court's denial of the requester's petition under the Public Records Act. (*Id.* at 711.)

But the *Consolidated Irrigation* court expressly declined to rule on whether the documents qualified as "public records": "Because we have inferred the trial court found against CID on the question of possession, we do not address whether the subconsultants' files 'were prepared, owned, used, or retained" by City and, thus, constituted a 'public record' for purposes of Government Code section 6252, subdivision (e)." (*Id.* at 711 n.8.) In other words, even if the documents qualified as "public records," the city would not need to provide them because they were not in its "possession." The court's shortcut was therefore reasonable.

The Sixth District's decision does not conflict with *Consolidated Irrigation*, first, because *Consolidated Irrigation* expressly followed a two-prong analysis, separating the concept of "public records" under Section 6252(e) from consideration of "possession" under Section 6253(c); and, second, because *Consolidated Irrigation* did not reach the issue whether the documents qualified as "public records."

Similarly, in the *Board of Pilot Commissioners* case the court made clear that the first requirement is for documents to qualify as "public records" under Section 6252(e), and only then it could consider the issue of "possession" under Section 6253(c). (*Bd. of Pilot Commissioners for the Bays of San Francisco, San Pablo & Suisun v. Sup. Ct.* (2013) 218 Cal.App.

4th 577, 596-600.) The *Pilots* court held that the documents in question there did not qualify as "public records" because there was no evidence that they were used by the Port Agent, or that they were necessary or convenient to the discharge of the Port Agent's duty. (*Id.* at 597.) After deciding that the documents were **not** public records, the court continued to address, in dicta, the remaining argument concerning the documents' possession. The court explained:

As to the Port Agent, the argument reaches too far. Under PMSA's theory, any and all records held or maintained by a private organization would become public record simply because one of its officers concurrently held a position performing public functions. Whether the record is in the actual or constructive possession of a public official, the requirement is still that the record be required by law to be kept by that official, or that it be "necessary or convenient to the discharge of his official duty."

(*Id.* at 598.) (emphasis added) "As to the Board, to prevail, PMSA must establish that the files (1) qualify as public records and (2) were in the possession of the Board." (*Id.*) (emphasis added) Because the *Pilots* court clearly distinguished between the two prongs of analysis, the Sixth District's decision here does not conflict with the *Pilots* case.

In Community Youth Athletic Center v. City of National City (2013) 220 Cal. App.4th 1385, the court of appeal did **not** consider the issue whether the documents were public records under Section 6253(e). (*Id.* at 1418.) The trial court's finding that the documents sought were public records was not challenged on appeal. (*Id.*) Instead, the issue on appeal was the city's compliance with Section 6253.1 that imposes on public agencies a duty to assist requesters in inspecting or obtaining copies of public records. (*Community Youth*, 220 Cal. App.4th at 1417-18, 1424-27.) Section 6253.1 has never been part of Smith's case. It was not briefed by

the parties nor discussed by the lower courts. For that reason, and because the *Community Youth* court assumed that the documents were public records, the Sixth District's decision does not conflict with it.

Smith's contention that there exists a conflict among the district courts regarding "constructive possession" is unfounded.

G. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE CITY ALLEGEDLY CONTROLLED E-MAILS IN ITS EMPLOYEES' PRIVATE ACCOUNTS.

Smith argues that the Sixth District Court of Appeal allegedly overlooked evidence that the City exercised control over communications in personal accounts. (Smith's Petition at 6, 32-33.) The e-mails from Senior Deputy City Attorney Lisa Herrick to attorney Ken Machado, counsel for former San José Mayor Tom McEnery, that Smith relies on do not support his argument. (See Smith's Petition at 6 & 32-33.) The record demonstrates that all those e-mails are found in Herrick's City e-mail account. (2 Petitioners' Appendix [PA] 379-88.)

- The first e-mail that Herrick sent to Machado from her personal account she also copied to her City account. (2 PA 379; *see also* the same e-mail at *id.* at 380, 383, 385 & 387.)
- The second e-mail, a response from Machado to Herrick's personal account, Herrick forwarded to her City account. (2 PA 380.)
- The third e-mail, a response to Machado's forwarded communication, was sent from Herrick's City account. (2 PA 382.)
- The fourth e-mail is from Machado to Herrick's City account. (2 PA 384.)
- And the fifth was sent from Herrick's City account. (2 PA 386.)

It is apparent, therefore, that Herrick consistently ensured that communications sent from or received in her personal account were also preserved in her City account. Additionally, all the e-mails were printed out from Herrick's City account. (Compare 2 PA 379-88 with *id.* at 360 (an print-out from a City account sent by Teresa Rodriguez has a header "Rodriguez, Teresa" on the top of the page; Herrick's print-outs are in the same format, i.e. they have "Herrick, Lisa" in the header.))

The text messages from a constituent to Council member Sam Liccardo that, according to Smith and the San José Mercury News, Council member Liccardo himself provided to the newspaper in 2009, do not support Smith's control argument, either. (Smith's Petition at 7, 9 & 32-33; 2 PA 320 (par. 11) & 364.) Just because a Council member voluntarily agrees to provide a text message from a personal account to a newspaper and later consents to production to Smith of the same—no longer private—message, does not stand for Smith's broad proposition that the City generally controls text messages and e-mails in Council members' personal accounts.

The San José City Council's 2010 revision to the City's Public Records Policy and Protocol, Council policy number 0-33, added a requirement that in addition to City records, made available to the public "any recorded and retained communications regarding official City business sent or received by the Mayor, Council members or their staffs via personal devices not owned by the City or connected to a City computer network." (2 PA at 207.) While Council members could declare that they and their staff would produce electronic records created and stored in their private electronic accounts, it is not relevant here. First, the Council chose to impose that element of the policy only on themselves and their staff, i.e. on about 30 out of nearly 5,500 City employees. (*Id.*) Second, that revision

was made "for purposes of a one-year pilot program," and thus expired in March 2011. (*Id.* at 203 & 206.) Third, Smith's Public Records Act request was made in June 2009, about ten months before the policy was added in March 2010. (Smith's Petition at 5 & 10.) The policy did not state it was retroactive. (2 PA at 202-209.) Finally, local policies simply do not affect interpretation of the Public Records Act.

Contrary to Smith's argument, another policy revised on the same date, Council policy number 0-32, entitled "Disclosure of Material Facts and Communications Received During Council Meetings," is still in force and the City never claimed that it expired. (See 2 PA 202-203.) That policy requires "every member of the City Council to publicly disclose (1) material facts; and (2) communications received during Council meetings that are relevant to a matter under consideration by the City Council which have been received from a source outside of the public decision-making process." (2 PA 204.) The communications must be disclosed "at the Council meeting before the Council takes any action on the item," and "no later than public discussion of the item under consideration." (Id.) Those communications include text messages, e-mails and phone calls. (Id.)

Once disclosed at a Council meeting, such communications become part of the action of the Council as a whole, and thus become public records of the City under the Act.

Therefore, the Sixth District was correct in stating that "there is no evidence in either party's separate statement of undisputed facts that the City has actual or constructive control over the privately stored communications of its officials." (*City of San Jose (Smith)* 225 Cal.App.4th at 96.)

Smith fails to explain how the City allegedly "controls" the Council members' and all City employees' private electronic accounts or personal

communication devices so as to be able to obtain and examine the contents of those accounts or devices absent the consent of the members or the employees.

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The various policy considerations encompassed by this litigation are for the Legislature to balance. If any loopholes exist in the Public Records Act, it is the Legislature's prerogative to close them. No California appellate decision has yet determined that a local official is a "local agency" for purposes of the Public Records Act. There is no conflict among the courts of appeal on this issue, and this Court does not have the benefit of a thorough debate among the district courts of appeal. The City defendants respectfully request that the Court decline review, and allow the Legislature and the courts of appeal to weigh in first.

Respectfully submitted,

RICHARD DOYLE, City Attorney

Dated: June 10, 2014

MARGO LASKOWSKA

Sr. Deputy City Attorney

Attorneys for Defendants CITY OF SAN JOSE, et al.